

Summary

Caregivers of individuals with dementia know that care can be difficult as the disease progresses. This is often because people in the late stages of dementia show challenging behaviours that can cause situations which are difficult to handle.

These changes in behaviour are caused by neurological changes in the brain as a result of the disease, but certain personal characteristics and environmental factors can also intensify the behaviour. Challenging behaviours can also reflect unmet needs such as personal care, stimulation, or fun activities with others. These needs are often misinterpreted or go unnoticed, which can make individuals with dementia restless or even aggressive. By providing the right kind of structured, organised activities that are both stimulating and enjoyable, challenging dementia-related behaviours can often be reduced or even prevented altogether.

Table of contents

This whitepaper aims to provide important information about the challenging behaviours associated with dementia and possible solutions for coping with them.

1. What are challenging dementia-related behaviours and what makes them problematic?4
1.1 Common terminology in dementia-related behaviour
1.2 The negative effects of challenging dementia-related behaviours on quality of life
2. What causes challenging dementia-related behaviours?6
2.1 The needs of people with dementia
3. Preventing or reducing challenging dementia-related behaviours
3.1 Non-drug interventions
3.2 Psychosocial interventions
4. Experiences from the field9
5. Using the Tovertafel as a tool for managing and reducing restless behaviour10
5.1 What evidence do we have for this?
Conclusion
References13

1. What are challenging dementia-related behaviours and what makes them problematic?

Dementia can often make a person exhibit challenging behaviours and psychological symptoms that can be upsetting for everyone involved in their care. From other care home residents, to caregivers and loved ones.

Challenging behaviour can manifest itself in many different ways, such as:

- anger
- restlessness
- irritation or even aggression
- being easily distracted
- the need to look for something but not being able to explain what they're looking for

1.1 Common terminology in dementia-related behaviour

Challenging behaviours are part of a wide range of behaviours that are common in people living with dementia. They are often described as 'problem behaviours' because they're experienced as problematic or difficult by those who care for the individuals in question. However, this says nothing about what actually causes them. That's why the preferred terms are 'dementia-related behaviours' or 'behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia' (BPSD).

"Their motor functions can be restless. In the way that they talk - even their facial expressions change. Their reaction is usually irritation or to ignore you."

Movement therapist

However, the range of BPSD is so broad that the term 'BPSD' itself is limiting. Many researchers have tried to categorise BPSD into clusters, and doing so may help to find solutions for reducing BPSD. Unfortunately, there's still a lot of disagreement about this1. Some researchers categorise BPSD into two main clusters - behavioural and psychological symptoms - and others group them into three or more. 1-2 Below is an example of five clusters of symptoms that were recently published by researchers Dr. Cloak and professor Khaliki:1

- 1. Cognitive/perceptual (e.g. hallucinations)
- 2. Motoric (e.g. repetitive movements)
- **3.** Emotional (e.g. anxiety)
- 4. Verbal (e.g. yelling)
- 5. Vegetative (e.g. sleep disturbances)

"I can often see it in their eyes on a morning when they're restless and uncomfortable. They also walk back and forth."

Welfare and activities professional for two residential group homes

Neuropsychiatric symptoms (NPS) is also a common term used in reference to dementiarelated behaviour. These include:3

- delusions
- hallucinations
- agitation/aggression
- depression/dysphoria
- anxiety
- euphoria/elation
- apathy/indifference
- disinhibited behaviour
- irritability/lability
- aimlessly repetitive behaviour
- nocturnal agitation/sleep disturbances
- appetite/changes in eating behaviour

1.2 The negative effects of challenging dementia-related behaviours on quality of life

In combination with physical limitations, challenging dementia-related behaviour has an incredibly negative effect on the quality of life of those living with dementia.5-6 This is difficult and sometimes distressing for family members, other residents, and caregivers who are on the receiving end of the behaviour.7 The impact that this has on these informal caregivers is often what leads to admission into a care facility or care home.⁷⁻⁸

The effects of dementia-related challenging behaviours can also have a significant effect on staff wellbeing and job satisfaction. This is why it is important that solutions for tackling these behaviours are known and readily available to care professionals.

Did you know?

That up to 97% of people living with dementia experience at least one behavioural and psychological symptom of dementia. The most common are apathy, depression, irritability, agitation, and anxiety.4

Did you know?

That the majority of care home residents with dementia (61%) exhibit more than one neuropsychiatric symptom?3

2. What causes challenging dementia-related behaviours?

One of the main challenges when it comes to dementia-related behaviours is that it is often difficult to figure out what is causing them. In some cases, these causes change over time, just like the needs of the person living with dementia do.

There are many scientific theories out there that explain what causes challenging dementia-related behaviour.9 One of the more widely supported ones is the Need-driven Dementia-Compromised Behaviour (NDB) theory. 10-12 It suggests that challenging dementia-related behaviour is the result of unmet needs.

Unmet needs can come about for a number of reasons. For example, it could be because of dementia-related difficulties with verbal communication that make it hard for people to express what they need.

Some of the needs of people in the later stages of dementia are:13

- fewer or more stimuli in their environment
- interaction with others
- personal approach and care
- attention
- being in the company of others
- open communication about their needs and desires

If these needs go unnoticed or are misinterpreted, it can lead to the onset of challenging behaviour. This can of course have negative consequences for the individual in question, as well as care workers, fellow residents and loved ones 11

Often when people with dementia display challenging behaviour, they're actually communicating that something is wrong. That's why the most important part of reducing challenging dementia-related behaviours is to first identify what's causing them. There may not be a one-size-fits-all approach or quick fix, but by collaborating with family members and loved ones, you can take steps towards getting to the source of the problem. This can be achieved by interpreting and understanding the behaviour. From these insights, you can then build a tailored approach based on the personal needs of the individual.

2.1 The needs of people with dementia

As much as the symptoms of dementia can be similar, people's individual needs are very different. These needs may be closely related to personal interests, cultural background, or the way that carers interact with their residents.

A lot of what has been written about the needs of people with dementia can be traced back to professor Thomas Kitwood - a pioneer in dementia care - and his 'positive person work' concepts.14 Kitwood's framework looks at which specific carer behaviours meet the needs of people with dementia and which behaviours undermine them.

Examples of behaviours that meet the needs of people with dementia are: giving recognition, negotiating, working together, playing, accepting the reality of the other person, and lastly, creating and facilitating a safe environment. This is ultimately the basis for the concept of personcentred care: a philosophy built around the needs of an individual and based on knowing them through a personal relationship in order to provide the best care.



3. Preventing or reducing challenging dementiarelated behaviours

There are several methods based on scientific research which have been proven effective in reducing or preventing challenging dementia-related behaviours.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ All of these methods focus on one core concept: identifying and responding to individual needs.

When looking to determine the cause of dementiarelated behaviour, the parties involved first check for physical signs of pain, hunger, or thirst. The next step is considering social or environmental factors as a possible cause of the behaviour, before looking for a solution. The goal is always to find a sustainable solution that is based on the unique needs of the individual

Most protocols for reducing challenging behaviours in people living with dementia follow these steps:

- 1. Identifying the behaviour
- 2. Establishing a connection and reassuring the individual
- 3. Determining the cause of the behaviour
- 4. Eliminating, or distracting from, the cause
- 5. Offering medication if non-drug solutions do not work

3.1 Non-drug interventions

When it comes to dealing with challenging behaviour in people living with dementia, care providers are always advised to first consider solutions that do not involve medicine. These are also known as non-drug interventions. This is because medication is not always effective and can often have negative side effects.18 Some examples of non-drug interventions used to treat challenging behaviour include multisensory stimulation, massage, and psychosocial interventions.

3.2 Psychosocial interventions

Research shows that using psychosocial interventions systematically can reduce both challenging behaviours as well as the use of medication.¹⁵ Psychosocial interventions are approaches that aim to reduce emotional and social difficulties. Many methods use psychosocial interventions to meet the needs of people living with dementia. More and more research shows the positive effects they have on reducing challenging behaviours.18 Examples of psychosocial interventions are reminiscence therapy, music therapy, and meaningful activities.9 The Tovertafel, for example, is a form of psychosocial intervention.

4. Experiences from the field

Mandy Choy, a Health and Life Sciences student at the VU University in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, conducted a study into how healthcare workers deal with restless behaviour in care facility residents living with dementia.¹⁹ She interviewed 11 professionals in various roles in order to collect valuable insights on the topic.

An important insight from her research was the need to recognise restless behaviour in time so that the 'undesirable' behaviour can be reversed. It states that to do that, it is important to know residents well because they may behave in a number of different ways which are unique to them. For example, this could be yelling or walking away, and for someone else, it could be a facial expression.

All of the care professionals that took part in Choy's research stated that they make contact with their residents and that it could take a while before they are successful in doing so. They also noted that staying patient and calm is crucial. Once having made contact, it's important to reassure the resident, identify the cause of the unrest and remove it. Sometimes, this can be really simple.

If it's difficult to determine what the cause of the restless behaviour is, the care professionals in Choy's study suggest taking the resident to a more quiet environment and distracting them with an activity. When choosing a suitable activity, health care professionals take into account the resident's personal background (e.g. country of origin or previous profession), as well as their interests and abilities. This includes their physical and cognitive capacities (including the stage of dementia) but also what they can still see and hear.

Another insight from the study highlights the importance of properly documenting your experiences with residents and sharing them with colleagues. What provokes restless behaviour in a specific resident? What helps to reduce the behaviour and what should you absolutely not do? By sharing experiences, you can recognise restless behaviour earlier and possibly even prevent it.

> "It could be music which is irritating, or another resident. This is common in residents with dementia. It's easy for the irritation to flare up."

> > Movement therapist

5. Using the Tovertafel as a tool for managing and reducing restless behaviour

The Tovertafel is a psychosocial intervention tool that can help reduce restless behaviour. It works by projecting interactive lights onto flat surfaces in the form of serious games. The Tovertafel provides care professionals with a simple way to provide what many of their residents in the later stages of dementia need: stimulating, enjoyable, relaxing, social activities.

The care professionals who took part in Mandy Choy's study explained that the Tovertafel's games were instrumental in helping them provide personal care that really made a difference. They emphasised that it is very important to know residents well on an interpersonal level and to gather information from friends and family members about their hobbies, interests, former professions, and more to support these efforts.

The Tovertafel also allows you to take any visual, auditory, or motor limitations of players into account by selecting games that focus on the senses that function better than others. Three participants in Choy's study indicated that they always opt for physical games such as 'Beach Ball' with residents who are physically restless and who make it clear that they would like to go somewhere. For residents who are sad, they choose games with bright colours or music, such as 'Flowers' or 'Sheet Music'.

It's important with a tool like the Tovertafel that it's used structurally, on a regular basis, in order to be a sustainable solution for reducing restless behaviour. A great way to do this is to set a specific time for its use.

If the restless behaviour at hand is primarily caused by physical needs such as pain or hunger, the Tovertafel will be less effective, however, it may provide some welcome distraction.



"One resident loves gardening and playing the game with the leaves. I often ask one of my more active residents: Shall we go to the beach? Grab the beach ball."

Founder of a company that supports care workers and informal caregivers

5.1 What evidence do we have for this?

Several studies show that playing with the Tovertafel is associated with a reduction in restless behaviour for those in the later stages of dementia.

The first study indicates that playing with the Tovertafel reduces restless and tense behaviour among care home residents with dementia by 21 to 32%.20 The same effect was also confirmed by another three studies.²⁰⁻²²

How does this work? Firstly, the Tovertafel games contain components of psychosocial intervention treatments that are known to be effective in reducing challenging behaviours such as reminiscence, music and meaningful activities.

The Tovertafel's wide range of games are specifically designed and developed to fulfill the needs of care facility residents in various stages of dementia. They can be tailored to their abilities, so you can choose the right game to match the cognitive capacities, personal interests, needs and emotions of the resident.

For example, care professionals or supervisors can choose from different types of games (cognitive, physical, social and sensory), levels and themes (such as music, daily activities, nature and words). This is especially helpful when it comes to managing and reducing challenging dementia-related behaviours.

The Tovertafel's menu makes it easy to select games for specific purposes and difficulty levels, to ensure there's a perfect match between the games and players. The difficulty levels are directly related to stages of dementia, meaning they're based on the extent to which the games appeal to certain cognitive skills. The Tovertafel's games are designed to ensure players won't be confronted with their inabilities by 'losing'. Instead, they provide positive reinforcement and boost confidence by focusing on their existing abilities.

This is all achieved through a method called co-design. The Tovertafel games are developed in close collaboration with the target group and care professionals. Only games that align with the abilities and needs of the target group, and that provoke the intended reactions in the players, will be considered for the Tovertafel.

The Tovertafel's unique characteristics make it a great tool for groups and stimulating social activity to combat challenging dementia-related behaviours, but it can also be used one on one to aid in person-centred care.

> "Later in the day, as a result of sundowning, residents get anxious or restless. The Tovertafel works very, very well during these difficult moments as a tool to distract and calm them."

> > Activity supervisor in a psychogeriatric department

Conclusion

As a care professional, challenging dementiarelated behaviours can be incredibly confronting and difficult to deal with. However, by understanding what these behaviours are and where they stem from, you are already one step closer to understanding how to reduce them.

By taking the time to understand the personal needs of individuals and developing a tailored approach based on these, a sustainable solution can help reduce and even prevent challenging behaviours. Using the right kind of (group) activities on a regular basis such as the Tovertafel can provide a way to manage these behaviours and improve your clients' quality of life. Which in turn has a positive impact on your wellbeing, quality of care and the overall happiness of your team.

References

- 1. Cloak N, Khalili YA. Behavioural and psychological symptoms in dementia. In:StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan. 2020 Dec 17. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK551552/
- Garre-Olmo J, López-Pousa S, Vilalta-Franch J, de Gracia Blanco M, Bulbena Vilarrasa A. Grouping and trajectories of the neuropsychiatric symptoms in patients with Alzheimer's disease, part 1: symptom clusters. J Alzheimers Dis 2010;22(4):1157-67. Doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-101212.
- 3. Zuidema SU, Derksen E, Verhey FRJ, Koopmans RTCM. Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in a large sample of Dutch nursing home patients with dementia. Int J Geriat Psychiatry 2007;22:632–638.
- 4. Steinberg M, Shao H, Zandi P, Lyketsos CG, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Norton MC, Breitner JCS, Steffens DC, Tschanz JT, and Cache County Investigators. Point and 5-year period prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia: The Cache County study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2008 February; 23(2): 170–177. doi:10.1002/gps.1858.
- Khoo SA, Chen TY, Ang YH, Yap P. The impact of neuropsychiatric symptoms on caregiver distress and quality of life in persons with dementia in an Asian tertiary hospital memory clinic. Int Psychogeriatr 2013 25(12):1991–1999.
- 6. Livingston G, Barber J, Marston L, Rapaport P, Livingston D, Cousins S, Robertson S, La Frenais F, Cooper C. Prevalence of and associations with agitation in residents with dementia living in care homes: MARQUE cross-sectional study. BJPsych Open 2017;3:171-178. Doi: 10.1192/bjpo.bp.117.005181.
- 7. Gaugler JE, Fang Y, Krichbaum K, Wyman JF. Predictors of nursing home admission for persons with dementia. Medical Care 2009; 47(2): 191-198.
- 8. Luppa M, Luck T, Weyerer S, König H-H, Brähler E, Riedel-Heller SG. Prediction of institutionalization in the elderly. A systematic review. Age and ageing 2010; 39:31-38.
- 9. Scales K, Zimmerman S, Miller SJ. Evidence-Based Nonpharmacological Practices to Address Behavioural and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia. Gerontologist 2018; 58(S1): S88–S102. doi:10.1093/geront/gnx167.
- 10. Algase DL, Beck C, Kolanowski A, Wall A, Berent S, Richards K, Beattie E. Need-driven dementia-compromised behaviour: An alternative view of disruptive behaviour. American Journal of Alzheimers Disease and Other Dementias 1996; Nov/Dec:10-19.
- 11. Kovach CR, Noonan PE, Schlidt AM, Wells T. A model of consequences of need-driven, dementia-compromised behaviour. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2005;37(2):134-40.
- 12. Jao YL, Algase DL, Specht JK, Williams K. The association between characteristics of care environments and apathy in residents with dementia in long-term care facilities. Gerontologist 2015; 55(suppl 1):S27-39.

- 13. Schmidt H, Eisenmann Y, Golla H, Voltz R, Perrar KM. Needs of people with advanced dementia in their final phase of life: A multi-perspective qualitative study in nursing homes. Palliat Med 2018;32(3):657-667.
- 14. Michell G, Agnelli. Person-centred care for people with dementia: Kitwood reconsidered. Nursing Standard 2015; 30(7):46-50.
- 15. Zwijsen SA. Grip on Challenging Behaviour Development, implementation and evaluation of a care programme for the management of challenging behaviour on dementia special care units [PhD thesis]. Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2014.
- 16. Karel MJ, Teri L, McConnell E, Visnic S, Karlin B. Effectiveness of Expanded Implementation of STAR-VA for Managing Dementia-Related Behaviours Among Veterans. Gerontologist 2016; 56(1):126–134. doi:10.1093/geront/gnv068.
- 17. Pieper MJ, Francke AL, van der Steen JT, Scherder EJ, Twisk JW, Kovach CR, Achterberg WP. Effects of a stepwise multidisciplinary intervention for challenging behaviour in advanced dementia: A Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2016; Feb;64(2):261-9. doi: 10.1111/jgs.13868.
- 18. Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, Brayne C, Burns A, Cohen-Mansfield J, Cooper C, Costafreda SG, Dias A, Fox N, Gitlin LN, Howard R, Kales HC, Kivimäki M, Larson EB, Ogunniyi A, Orgeta V, Ritchie K, Rockwood K, Sampson EL, Samus Q, Schneider LS, Selbæk G, Teri L, Mukadam N. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. Lancet 2020;396(10248):413-446. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6.
- 19. Choy MTM. Reducing restless and tense behaviour. A qualitative study on the perceived best practices of caregivers using Tovertafel [Unpublished Master Thesis]. Amsterdam: Vrije Universiteit; July 2021.
- Bruil L, Adriaansen MJM, Groothuis JWM, Bossema ER. Kwaliteit van leven van verpleeghuisbewoners met dementie voor, tijdens en na het spelen met de tovertafel. Tijdschr Gerontol Geriatr 2017.
- 21. Kuipers M. The effect of Tovertafel Original on quality of life in elderly people with mid to late stage dementia. A qualitative study [Unpublished Master Thesis]. Leiden University Medical Center, Vitality and Aging, July 2018.
- 22. Su Y. The Tovertafel: Evaluation of the Impact of the activating game on the Caregivers of People with Dementia [Unpublished Master Thesis]. London: University College London; 2018.
- 23. Good A, Omisade O, Ancient C, Andrikopoulou E. The use of interactive tables in promoting wellbeing in specific user groups. In: Zhou J and Salvendy G (Eds.) Human Aspects of IT for the Aged Population Social Media, Games and Assistive Environments. 5th International Conference, ITAP 2019 Held as Part of the 21st HCI International Conference, HCII 2019 Orlando, FL, USA, July 26–31, 2019, Proceedings, Part II. Cham Switzerland: Springer Nature Switzerland AG; 2019. pp. 506-519. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-22015-0_39. Available at: https://researchportal.port.ac.uk/en/publications/the-use-of-interactive-tables-in-promoting-wellbeing-in-specific-

